ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 


I. 	 The Circuit Court erred in granting respondent's Motion for Judgment as a 
Matter of Law pursuant to Rule SO of the West Virginia Rules of Civil 
Procedure by fmding that respondent's articulated legitimate, non
discriminatory reasons for the posting of petitioner's job and decision not to 
re-hire him were "undisputed." 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This is an appeal from a judgment as a matter of law entered by the Kanawha County 

Circuit Court at the conclusion of the petitioner's case-in-chief on his age discrimination claims 

against the respondent. Petitioner, Carl Clark was first employed by the respondent in 1971 as a 

certified teacher and as an athletic coach ofmultiple teams, including head boys' basketball coach, 

at Woodrow Wilson Junior High School. Appendix Record (hereinafter "Appendix"), at 20. In 

1977, he moved to Stonewall Jackson High School, where he was also hired as assistant boys' 

basketball coach. Id. In 1979, he was also hired as Stonewall High School's head girls' basketball 

coach. Appendix, at 21. He remained at Stonewall in those positions until SJHS and Charleston 

High Schools were consolidated into Capital High School in 1989. In his 12 years as SJHS 

assistant boys' coach, the boys' team won three state championships and was state runner-up twice. 

As SJHS head girls' coach, the girls' team won two state championships, went undefeated in three 

consecutive seasons, and was runner-up one year. Id. 

After consolidation in 1989, Coach Clark became employed at Capital High School as a 

teacher, as assistant boys' basketball coach and as head girls' basketball coach. Id. In 1994, the 

CHS head boys' coach (Coach Vencil) needed to take a year offdue to an illness in his family. He 

approached Coach Clark and asked ifClark would serve as head coach for a year, but agree to step 

back down once Vencil could return. Clark agreed and was named head boys' coach in 1994. Id. 

He continued as head girls' coach as well. The next year, Coach Vencil decided he could not 



return as coach. Coach Clark was then offered the position permanently. He accepted, conditioned 

on being able to finish his duties that same season as head girls' coach, which he did. Appendix, 

at 22. 

Coach Clark ultimately served as assistant boys' head coach at Capital High School for 

five years and as boys' head coach for another twenty-one years. Appendix, at 21,23. During 

his time as head coach at CHS, he was selected as MSAC Coach of the Year multiple times, was 

selected as statewide Coach ofthe Year; his teams won two state titles and was runner-up for the 

state title once; and his teams won numerous regional and sectional championships. Appendix, at 

24. In his basketball coaching career, he was the first black coach to win a state championship in 

girls' basketball; the first black coach to win a state championship in boys' basketball; one ofonly 

two coaches ever to win state championships in both girls and boys basketball; and the only coach 

to ever win back-to-back state championships in both girls and boys basketball. Id. 

In 2012, Coach Clark's first wife passed away. Appendix, at 29. In 2014, Coach Clark 

remarried, made the decision that he needed to spend more time with his family, and decided to 

retire as a teacher. Appendix, at 30. However, he desired to continue as head coach of the CHS 

boys' team. He discussed these options with long-time CHS principal Giles and with CHS athletic 

director Cody Clay, who had just come on the job a few months earlier. Appendix at 30, 142. 

Principal Giles told Clark he could continue as head coach despite his retirement. Appendix, at 

30. Coach Clark specifically did not quit his coaching position. Appendix, at 47. 

Coach Clark tendered his resignation as a teacher on October 1, 2014, prior to the beginning 

of basketball season. Appendix at 26, 32, 190. Despite the fact he was no longer employed as a 

certified teacher by the County, the job was not declared vacant or posted for new applications. 

Appendix, at 32. Rather, Coach Clark was hired as CHS head boys' basketball coach by contract 
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dated November 7, 2014. Appendix, at 192. That contract provided, in pertinent part, that Clark 

would perform the duties of head basketball coach during school year 2014 - 2015. Id. "School 

year" is defined by law as July 1 to June 30. W Va. Code § 18-1-2; W Va. Code ofState Rules § 

126 C.S.R. 126-73-4.9. The basketball season ended on March 10,2015. However, there were 

still job duties to be performed by the head coach within the 2014 - 2015 school year, specifically 

a period in the last three weeks ofJune including outreach to' incoming ninth-graders; practices for 

returning players; open work-outs for other boys that wanted to try out for the team; and organized 

scrimmages and shoot-arounds in different parts of the state and the local area. Appendix, at 40. 

In January, 2015, CHS principal Giles resigned. Appendix at 78. David Miller then 

became acting principal. Appendix at 30, 78. At the end of the season in March, 2015, Coach 

Clark discussed with both David Miller and Cody Clay that Coach Clark desired to continue as 

coach and neither Miller nor Clay expressed concerns about his ability to do so. Appendix, at 30

31. 

In April, 2015, without any further dIscussion with Coach Clark, Clay informed Miller that 

Clark's position was now deemed vacant due to his retirement and had to be po~ted. Appendix, at 

30,31, 162. Despite Clark's existing contract and despite the fact that job duties remained to be 

performed under the contract, respondent declared the CHS head boys basketball coachingjob to 

be vacant and posted it as available to other applicants. Appendix, at 193.1 This was done as 

Coach Clark and his wife were gone on vacation in late April, 2015. Appendix, at 31. 

After Coach Clark learned of the posting, he immediately used a laptop to electronically 

apply for the position. Appendix, at 32. 

I In just this one posting, 13 coaching positions at CHS were listed. It is telling that every new CHS 
coaching hire for school year 2015-2016 was under the age of 40. Appendix, at 229. 
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In May of2015, Larry Bailey came on as the new CHS principal. Appendix, at 78. Coach 

Clark then interviewed for a position he had held for 21 years, with the new principal, two vice

principals, and the athletic director, all ofwhom had less than 3 years' experience at Capital High 

School and all of whom were under the age of40. Appendix, at 229. 

The panel interviewed a number of applicants. However, per Principal Bailey, Cody Clay 

instructed the panel that Matthew Green, a 35 year old applicant, was the only candidate who could 

be considered to be offered the position. Appendix, at 79. Despite being specifically told that it 

had to offer the position to Green, the panel went ahead and interviewed all applicants, without 

informing those applicants they could not even be considered in light of Green's application. 

Appendix, at 80,81, 138. 

Cody Clay prepared a set questions to ask each applicant. Appendix, at 87. The panel 

chose not to deviate from the questions in any way, including asking any type of follow up or 

clarification questions. Appendix, at 86, 87. These questions included the following: "What are 

your career goals as a basketball coach? Where do you see yourself in five years? What kind of 

commitment can you give us if you were given this position?" Appendix, at 204. Clay testified 

he would have wanted a firm commitment of that nature. Appendix, at 171-2. Coach Clark knew 

he had no chance when he saw the composition of the panel and was asked these questions. 

Appendix, at 35-37. 

The respondent's rationale that it had no discretion in relation to the hiring is that at the 

time the interviews were conducted in May, the state rules and school policy promulgated pursuant 

to those rules provided a mandatory preference that employed certified teachers must be hired 

before non-employed certified teachers. Accordingly, respondent contends since Clark had 
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retired, he was no longer an "employed" certified teacher - meaning it had a non-discretionary 

duty to hire Green, an "employed" professional teacher. 2 

Importantly, Cody Clay admitted he was already aware by this point that this hiring 

preference was being removed by amendment to the rules that was going into effect on June 12, 

2015.3 Appendix, at 165. Principal Bailey testified he told Cody Clay that he wished he did not 

have to replace the longstanding head coach within weeks of asswning the principal's position, 

but Clay did explain that there was any other choice. Appendix, at 83, 84, 88. Principal Bailey 

also testified that Clay infonned him the position had to be filled within 30 days ofit being posted. 

Appendix, at 83.4 

Principal Bailey admits that now that he has a better understanding ofthe rules, and he sees 

that Clay was wrong about those statements (Appendix, at 95) and admits that (1) coaching 

positions should be posted only after they "become vacant;" (Appendix, at 84) (2) that there was 

no prescribed time for the position to be posted after it became vacant (Appendix, at 165) (3) that 

the position did not, in fact, have to be filled within 30 days of the posting (Appendix, at 81, 82); 

and (4) that there was no prohibition from either waiting to fill the position until after the rule 

change on June 12 or conditioning the re-hiring of Coach Clark upon him once again becoming 

employed as a certified teacher with the County (Appendix, at 135). 

2 Principal Bailey admitted that despite Clay informing the interview panel that the 35 year old Green was 
the only candidate under this preference that could be considered, there was another candidate, Beatty, 
who qualified for the preference. Beatty was an older teacher who had served for years as an assistant 
coach under Clark. Appendix, at 79-80. 

3 Again, prior to the end of the 2014-2015 school year and while there were still head coaching duties left 
to be performed under Clark's contract. 

4 Cody Clay disputed this at trial. (Appendix, at 188). 
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Coach Clark was hired by respondent as a certified teacher in the position of a substitute, 

on June 8, 2015. Appendix, at 220. Again, this was before the end ofthe school year and before 

all the duties of the head coach had been perfonned. As his contract had not ended, the Board 

breached his contract by declaring it vacant prior to the end of the school year. In light ofhis re

hiring as a certified teacher on June 8, 2015, the position should never have been posted at all. 

Principal Bailey admitted that if Clark had not retired (Le. remained an "employed" certified 

teacher), the position would "never have been posted." Appendix, at 114. The coach hiring policy 

provides "Certified teachers may hold a coaching position indefinitely, without advertising, 

contingent upon the recommendation of the principal and approval of the board." Appendix, at 

205. In the absence of a requirement to post the position, then principals do not post the jobs as 

available "as long as he doesn't commit some immoral act or do something crazy." Appendix, at 

127-128. 

Even with the position posted, if the panel had waited four more days to make its 

recommendation, it would not have been subject to the preferential hire rule. Instead, respondent 

hired Matthew Green, a 35 year old, to replace petitioner, a 68 year old, on June 8, 2015 - the same 

day it re-hired Clark as a certified teacher substitute. Appendix, at 220.5 

To add insult to injury, once Green was hired, Principal Bailey called Coach Clark and 

offered to hire him as Green's assistant. Appendix, at 39. 

S~YOFARGUMENT 

The Court erred in granting defendant's Motion for Judgment as a Matter ofLaw pursuant 

to Rule 50 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, because the facts elicited during 

5 Ofall eight CHS coaching positions hired by the Board on that date, all of them were under the age of 
40. 
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petitioner's case in chief - and the pennissible inferences a reasonable jury could have drawn 

therefrom - were subject to multiple and varying interpretations. 

In this case, the petitioner submitted evidence to the jury as follows: 

He was 68 years ofage when two adverse employment decisions were made in relation to 

his coaching position: first, that it was declared vacant in the first place, and second, that he was 

not the successful candidate. 

Petitioner submitted evidence that he was replaced by a 35 year old; respondent stipulated 

that every new coaching hire at CHS during the relevant year was under the age of 40; and 

stipulated that every person that participated in the interview and recommendation panel in relation 

to whether petitioner should be re-hired were under the age of40. 

In relation to his job being improperly declared to be vacant in April, 2015, petitioner 

presented a multitude of evidence which could support a jury verdict in his favor, including: a 

written contract that showed he was hired to perform the duties of head basketball coach for the 

2014-2015 school year (which by law did not end until June 30, 2015); that there were multiple 

duties ofthe job left to be performed in that year, particularly in the last three weeks ofJune; that 

he had multiple conversations with the school's administration about his desire to continue in the 

position of head coach; that the administrators assured him he would continue as head coach; that 

no one told him ofany intention to post his job as vacant; that the job should not be posted until it 

was, in fact, vacant; but that the job was posted before it was, in fact, vacant; that petitioner was 

not notified his job had been posted until he had left the state on vacation; and that if his job had 

not been declared vacant, he would have retained his position. 
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In relation to not being selected as the candidate once the job was posted, the petitioner 

submitt~ evidence that showed Cody Clay manipulated the interview panel in multiple ways, 

including (1) incorrectly informing the administration that the job had to be posted immediately 

upon being declared vacant; (2) incorrectly informing the panel that the position had to be filled 

within 30 days of being posted as vacant; (3) that there was no prohibition for the panel either 

delaying to fill the position for four days until after the rule change on June 12 took away the 

"preferential rehire" provision for currently employed teachers or for conditionally selecting 

Coach Clark with the requirement that he become re-employed as a certified teacher with the 

County before the next school year began; (4) writing an interview "script" and keeping the panel 

from deviating from it in any way; and (5) including questions about the length of future 

commitment the applicants could serve, where they saw themselves in five years, and expecting 

candidates to make commitments to the panel ofavailability beyond the next school year. 

The respondent and its witnesses denied any discriminatory animus in their decision 

making. However, to have a triable issue to reach a jury on a discrimination claim in this state it 

is not required that plaintiff elicit a direct, blatant confession of discrimination; and further, a 

reasonable jury could find in favor of a discrimination plaintiff without such direct admission .. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Petitioner submits this case is appropriate for oral argument under Rules 18 and 19 of the 

West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure because this case involves a complicated set / series 

offacts and the facts and legal arguments would be significantly aided by oral argument. Further 

this case (1) involves assignments of error in the application of settled law; (2) involves claims of 

an unsustainable exercise ofdiscretion where the law governing that discretion is settled; and (3) 
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claims insufficient evidence existed to detennine a jury could not rule in petitioner's favor under 

any circumstance. 

ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court erred in granting respondent's Motion for Judgment as a 
Matter of Law pursuant to Rule 50 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil 
Procedure by rmding that respondent's articulated legitimate, non
discriminatory reasons for the posting of petitioner's job and decision not to 
re-hire him were "undisputed." 

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

"When a motion is made for a directed verdict, the court should entertain every reasonable 

and legitimate inference favorable to the litigant opposing such motion fairly arising from the 

evidence, considered as a whole, and assume as true those facts which a jury might properly find 

under the evidence." Syl. Pt. I, Lambert v. Goodman, 147 W.Va. 513, 129 SE 2d. 138 (1963). 

This Court's standard of review on the trial court's granting of a judgment as a matter of 

law is de novo. Gillingham v. Stephenson, 209 W. Va. 741, 551 S.E.2d 663 (2001). "We apply a 

de novo standard of review to the grant or denial of a pre-verdict or post-verdict motion for 

judgment as a matter of law. After considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the 

nonmovant party, we will sustain the granting or denial ofa pre-verdict or post-verdict motion for 

judgment as a matter oflaw when only one reasonable conclusion as to the verdict can be reached." 

See Syl. pt. 3, Brannon v. Riffle, 197 W. Va. 97, 475 S.E.2d 97 (1996). 

In this case, the evidence was susceptible ofmultiple and different interpretations and more 

than one reasonable verdict could have been reached. This is demonstrated, at least in part, on the 

trial court's denial of respondent's summary judgment motion on nearly identical grounds. See, 

Appendix, at 7. 
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Pursuant to West Virginia Code §5-11-9, it is an unlawful discriminatory practice for an 

employer to fire or refuse to hire an individual based upon their age. West Virginia Code §5-11

9 states that: "It shall be an unlawful discriminatory practice ... [f]or any employer to discriminate 

against an individual with respect to compensation, hire, tenure, tenns, conditions or privileges of 

employment if the individual is able and competent to perform the services required even if such 

individual is blind or disabled ..." Discrimination "means to exclude from, or fail or refuse to 

extend to, a person equal opportunities because of race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, 

sex, age, blindness, disability or familial status and includes to separate or segregate." West 

Virginia Code §5-11-3. 

"In order to make a prima facie case ofemployment discrimination under the West Virginia 

Human Rights Act, W.Va. Code §5-11-1 et. seq. (1979), the plaintiff must offer proof of the 

following: 

(1) 	 That the plaintiff is a member ofa protected class. 

(2) 	 That the employer made an adverse decision concerning the plaintiff. 

(3) 	 But for the plaintiffs protected status, the adverse decision would not have been 

made." Syl. Pt. 1, Kanawha Valley Regional Transport Authority v. West Virginia 

Human Rights Commission, 181 W.Va. 675, 383 S.E.2d 857, (1989) citing Syl. Pt. 3, 

Conaway v. Eastern Associated Coal Corporation, 178 W.Va. 164, 358 S.E.2d 423 

(1986). 

As this Court has held in the similar context of deciding a motion for summary judgment 

on a discrimination claim prior to trial: 

Although the plaintiff has the ultimate burden of proving 
elements of the claim of discrimination by a preponderance of the 
evidence, the showing the plaintiff must make as to the elements of 
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the prima facie case in order to defeat a motion for summary 
judgment is de minimis. In detennining whether the plaintiffhas met 
the de minimis initial burden of showing circumstances giving rise 
to an inference ofdiscrimination, the function ofthe circuit court on 
a summary judgment motion is to determine whether the proffered 
admissible evidence shows circumstances that would be sufficient 
to permit a rational finder offact to infer a discriminatory motive. It 
is not the province of the circuit court itself to decide what 
inferences should be drawn. 

SyI. Pt. 1, Conrad V. ARA Szabo, 198 W. Va. 362,480 S.E.2d 801 (1996) (citing SyI. Pt. 

4, Hanlon v. Chambers, 195 W. Va. 99,464 S.E.2d 741 (1995) (emphasis added). 

In addition, the Supreme Court of West Virginia has consistently held that "courts should 

take special care when considering summary judgment in employment and discrimination cases 

because state of mind, intent, and motives may be crucial elements." Williams v. Precision Coil, 

Inc., 194 W.Va. 52, 61,459 S.E.2d 329,338 (1995). "Summary judgment is often imprudent in 

discrimination cases that present issues of motive or intent because, as recognized in Williams, 

'credibility determinations, the weighing of the evidence, and the drawing of legitimate 

inferences from the facts are jury functions, not those of a judge[.]'" West Virginia Human 

Rights Commission v. Wilson Estates Inc., 202 W.Va. 152, 160, 503 S.E.2d 6, (1998) citing 

Williams at 59, 459 S.E.2d at 336 (quoting Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 255, 91 

L.Ed.2d 202, 106 S. Ct. 2505 (1986)); accord Pierce v. Ford Motor Co., 190 F.2d 910, 915 (4th

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