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

argument. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW AND ARGUMENT 

The Supreme Court ofAppeals of the State of West Virginia applies a de novo standard of 

review to the grant or denial of a pre-verdict or post-verdict motion for judgment as a matter of 

law. After considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-movant party, it will 

sustain the granting or denial of a pre-verdict or post-verdict motion for judgment as a matter of 

law when only one reasonable conclusion as to the verdict can be reached. Gillingham v. 

Stephenson, 209 W. Va. 741, 744, 551 S.E.2d 663, 666, (2001). On appeal, the Supreme Court, 

after considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-movant party, will sustain the 

granting ofdirected verdict when only one reasonable conclusion as to the verdict can be reached. 

But if reasonable minds could differ as to the importance and sufficiency of the evidence, a circuit 

court's ruling granting a directed verdict will be reversed. The question for the Supreme Court is 

not whether there is literally no evidence, but whether there is any upon which a jury can properly 

proceed to find a verdict. Brannon v. Riffle, 197 W. Va. 97,98,475 S.E.2d 97,98, (1996). 

Clark's brief attempts to intertwine a summary judgment standard pursuant to Rule 56(c) 

ofthe West Virginia Rules o/Civil Procedure with the applicable standard for Judgment as a Matter 

ofLaw at issue in this appeal under rule 50(a). However, Clark's ability to prevail at the summary 
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judgment stage is not dispositive as to whether a circuit court may grant the KCBOE's Motion for 

Judgment as a Matter of Law at the conclusion of Clark's case in chief. "Even ifthe trial judge is 

of the opinion to direct a verdict, he should nevertheless ordinarily hear evidence and, upon a trial, 

direct a verdict rather than try the case in advance on a motion for summary judgment." Syl. Pt. 7, 

Poling v. Pre-Paid Legal Servs,-, 212 W. Va. 589, 592, 575 S.E.2d 199, 202 (2002); Syl. Pt. 

1, Masinter v. WEBCO Co., 164 W.Va. 241,262 S.E.2d 433 (1980). 

The Federal Courts provide further persuasive authority on this issue. Summary judgment 

should be denied "even where there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts in the case but only as 

to the conclusions to be drawn therefrom." Pierce v. Ford Motor Co., 190 F.2d 910, 915 (4th 

Cir.), cert. denied, 342 U.S. 887, 96 L. Ed. 666, 72 S. Ct. 178 (1951). Nor is summary judgment 

proper where the judge believes he will have to direct a verdict for one party or the other on issues 

that have been raised, since he should ordinarily hear evidence and direct a verdict rather than 

attempt to try the case in advance on a motion for summary judgment. Pierce v. Ford Motor Co., 

190 F.2d 910 (4th Cir. 1951); Lewis v. Coleman, 257 F. Supp. 38, 40 (S.D. W. Va. 1966). 

Appellate courts have upheld similar cases on a directed verdict standard before. The West 

Virginia Supreme Court ofAppeals and the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit 

have both affirmed a lower court's entry of a directed verdict in employment cases. See Hill v. 

Pitt-Ohio Express, Inc., 1992 U.S. App. LEXIS 18485 (4th Circ. July 7, 1992); Bostic v. Russell 

Cnty. Sch. Bd., No. 91-1644, 1992 U.S. App. LEXIS 17377 (4th Cir. July 24, 1992); Pleasant v. 

Elk Run Coal Co., 199 W. Va. 629,486 S.E.2d 798,1997 W. Va. LEXIS 108. 

In Hill, the appellant alleged she was wrongfully discharged and flIed an action under the 

Age Discrimination in Employment Act and W. Va. Code § 5-11-9. Hill v. Pitt-Ohio Express, Inc., 

1992 U.S. App. LEXIS 18485 (4th Circ. July 7,1992). The Fourth Circuit held that the truck driver 
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failed to show "a scintilla of evidence" that age or health played a role in the employer's decision. 

Id. Because the appellant "failed to create a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the 

employer's reason for discharge was pre-textual," the Court upheld the directed verdict. Id. In 

Bostic, the teacher brought an action for constructive discharge and retaliation. Bostic v. Russell 

Cnty. Sch. Bd, No. 91-1644,1992 U.S. App. LEXIS 17377 (4th Cir. July 24, 1992). The Fourth 

Circuit upheld a directed verdict in favor of the employer because, again, the teacher provided 

"insufficient evidence" to uphold her employment claim. 

Lastly, in Pleasant, the employee contended she was discharged without cause, but the 

circuit court granted a directed verdict in favor of the employer. Pleasant v. Elk Run Coal Co., 199 

W. Va. 629,486 S.E.2d 798 (1997). On appeal, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals 

upheld the directed verdict in favor of the employer because the employee, even after presenting 

her entire case in chief, did not provide sufficient evidence for a jury to find in her favor. The Court 

held that "[w]hen a plaintiffs evidence, considered in the light most favorable to him, fails to 

establish a prima facie right of recovery, a trial court should direct a verdict in favor of the 

defendant." See itl, at 630, 799. All ofthese cases present examples ofan appellate court upholding 

a directed verdict if a plaintiff could not provide enough evidence in order to allow the entire case 

to proceed in front of a jury. Similarly, here, this Court should sustain the directed verdict granted 

in the Order because only one reasonable conclusion as to the verdict can be reached. No 

evidentiary basis existed to demonstrate that Clark was discriminated against based on his age. On 

the contrary, KCBOE followed the law and WVSSAC policy during the hiring process. W. Va. 

Code § 18A-3-2a(e)(3) (Effective Until June 12,2015); see, generally, Hanlon v. Logan County 

Board ofEducation, 201 W. Va. 305, 496 S.E. 2d 447, at 455 (W.Va. 1997); 127 CSR 3-6.1 & 

6.4.c.; see also WVSSAC Policy at J.A., at 205, 228. 
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A. 	 The Circuit Court did not err in granting KCHOE's Motion for Judgment as a Matter 
of Law because there was no evidence demonstrating age was a motivating factor in 
its hiring decision and further, there were legitimate non-discriminatory reasons that 
resulted in another candidate being chosen for the position. 

The Circuit Court correctly found there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a 

reasonable jury to find in favor ofClark on his claim ofage discrimination. Rule 50(a) ofthe West 

Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure states as follows: 

Judgment as a Matter of Law. 

(1) If during a trial by jury a party has been fully heard on an issue and there is no 
legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find for that party on that 
issue, the court may detennine the issue against that party and may grant a motion 
for judgment as a matter of law against that party with respect to a claim or defense 
that cannot under the controlling law be maintained or defeated without a favorable 
fmding on that issue. 
(2) Motions for judgment as a matter of law may be made at any time before 
submission ofthe case to the jury. Such a motion shall specify the judgment sought 
and the law and the facts on which the moving party is entitled to the jUdgment. 

In making its ruling: 

When a motion is made for a directed verdict, the court should entertain every reasonable 
and legitimate inference favorable to the litigant opposing such motion fairly arising from 
the evidence, considered as a whole, and assume as true those facts which a jury might 
properly find under the evidence. 

Syl. Pt. 1, Lambert v. Goodman, 147 W. Va. 513, 514, 129 S.E.2d 138, 139 (1963). The Court 

relied upon the evidence presented and the applicable law. Further, the Court gave Clark the 

benefit of every reasonable and legitimate inference favorable to him and assumed those facts 

which a jury might properly find under the evidence. J.A., at 230-236. Based upon these standards 

and the evidence presented at trial, the Court correctly granted KCBOE's Motion for Judgment as 

a Matter of Law because there is no evidence demonstrating a violation ofthe WV Human Rights 

Act, W. Va. Code § 5-11-1. et. seq. 
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1. 	 There is no evidence to demonstrate the KCBOE used Clark's age as a motivating 
factor in hiring a boys' basketball coach at Capital High School for the 2015-2016 
season. 

Clark did not present any evidence that the KCBOE used his age as a motivating faCtor in 

its decision not to hire him as the Head Coach for the Capital High School Boys' Basketball Team 

for the 2015-2016 season. According to the Supreme Court: 

[A] plaintiff bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the 
alleged forbidden bias was a motivating factor in the defendant's decision to take an 
adverse action against the plaintiff. Ifthe plaintiff carries that burden, then the jury should 
find for the plaintiff unless the defendant can prove by a preponderance of the evidence 
that it would have taken the same action in the absence of the impermissible motive. 

See Barlow v. Hester Indus., 198 W. Va. 118, 135-136,479 S.E.2d 628,645-646 (1996). 

Furthermore: 

[A] plaintiff can prevail, even though [he] has not proven pretext, if she has otherwise 
shown that a prohibited bias entered into the defendant's decision. In that context, the 
mixed motive case, the defendant has acted for unlawful as well as lawful reasons, and we 
have accordingly shifted the burden ofpersuasion on the issue ofcausation to the defendant 
and required it, to avoid liability, to prove the same decision would have been made in the 
absence of the unlawful reason. 

See id. at 138,648; citing to Skaggs v. Elk Run Coal Co., 198 W. Va. 51,479 S.E.2d 561 (1996); 

Barefoot v. Sundale Nursing Home, 193 W. Va 475, n. 16,457 S.E.2d 152, n. 16 (1995). The law 

also provides that an employer has a right to make employment decisions for good reasons, bad 

reasons, or no reason at all, absent discrimination. Skaggs v. Elk Run Coal Co., 198 W. Va. 51, 

479 S.E.2d 561 (1996). In this case, KCBOE made an employment decision absent any 

discrimination, as emphasized in the Order multiple times. J.A. at 234-235. 

In April of2015, KCBOE was limited in its ability to fill coaching vacancies. According 

to the Code of State Regulations in effect at the time: 

6.1 A member ofa school faculty, substitute teacher or student teacher, with or without 
West Virginia Department ofEducation Authorized Certification, within a public, private, 
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or parochial school system shall be allowed to coach an athletic team. Also, an authorized 
certified individual may coach if he meets all of the requirements in subsection 6.4 of this 
rule. 

6.4 An authorized certified coach must meet the following requirements: 

6.4.c The authorized certified coach may be contracted to coach only if an employed 
certified professional educator within the county has not applied for an accepted the 
coaching position. 

127 CSR 3-6.1 & 6.4.c.; see, generally, Hanlon v. Logan County Board o/Education, 201 W. Va. 

305,496 S.E. 2d 447, at 455 (W.Va. 1997) (A "board ofeducation's authority to hire an individual 

as a coach is restricted where 'a currently employed certified professional educator' has applied 

for the position.") This rule was derived from W. Va. Code § 18A-3-2a(e)(3) (Effective Until June 

12, 2015) which stated that the "State Superintendent may issue certificates for persons to serve in 

the public schools as athletic coaches ... subject to the following limitations." The person must be 

"employed under a contract with the county board of education,,4 and a "currently employed 

certified professional educator" has not applied for the position.,,5 W Va. Code § 18A-3

2a(e)(3)(B) (Effective Until June 12, 2015). These requirements are recited verbatim in the 

WSSAC's Handbook at p. 34. J.A., at 228. This legislative rule was the rule of law as adopted by 

the West Virginia State Legislature in March/April 2015. See Findley v. State Farm Mut. Auto. 

Ins. Co., 576 S.E.2d 807,819 (W. Va. 2002); W. Va. Code § 2-2-1O(bb) (1998) (Repl. Vol. 2002). 

The evidence presented in Clark's case in chief demonstrated the KCBOE acted pursuant 

to the applicable law. 127 CSR 3-6.1 & 6.4.c.; W. Va. Code § 18A-3-2a(e)(3) (Effective Until 

June 12,2015); see, generally, Hanlon v. Logan County Board o/Education, 201 W. Va. 305, 496 

S.E. 2d 447, at 455 (W.Va. 1997); J.A., at 228, 64. The first year athletic director, Cody Clay, was 

4 Clark stated on his application that was not "under any contract." J.A., at 200. 

5 Two other "currently employed certified professional educator[s]" had applied for the position. J.A., at 106. 
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not involved in the decision making process for hiring coaches for the 2014-2015 seasons. Instead, 

he relied upon the former principal, Mr. Giles, to make those decisions.6 lA. at 158-159, 162. In 

preparation for the 2015-2016 school year, as the athletic director working under a temporary 

"acting principal," Mr. Miller, he felt it was his duty to make sure the school was prepared for the 

next school year. lA. at 179, 182. As such, he consulted the KC BOE's human resources 

department to determine which positions needed to be advertised in preparation for the next school 

year. lA., at 161. Human resources infomled him that all positions held by persons that were not 

a professional fulltime teacher needed to be advertised. J.A. at 161, 163. Based on the criteria he 

received from human resources, he reviewed all the coaching positions at Capital to determine 

which needed to be filled for the next school year. lA. at 161. The athletic director requested 

further clarification regarding whether coaching positions held by retired teachers were also 

required to be advertised, without mentioning Clark's name. J .A., at 163, 181-182. Again, human 

resources confirmed this was the case. lA., at 163. As such, Mr. Clay made a list of multiple 

coaching positions that fit the criteria provided by human resources and gave the list to his 

supervisor to be submitted to human resources to be filled in preparation for the next school year. 

J.A., at 163-164. Clark was notified the boys' basketball head coach position fit this criteria so he 

could apply. J.A., at 164. 

After the positions were posted as available, KCBOE hired its new principal at Capital 

High School, Larry Bailey. J.A., at 78. Mr. Bailey was inundated with mUltiple positions that 

needed to be filled in preparation for the next school year, including teachers, service personnel 

and coaches. J.A. at 76. He just attended principal training wherein he was instructed that teachers 

and service personnel positions needed to be filled within 30 days of being advertised. J.A. at 80. 

6 Mr. Clay's only involvement was to provide Mr. Clark with a copy of the Agreement pursuant to Mr. Giles directive. 1. A., at 
160-161. 
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He mistakenly believed this applied to coaching positions as well. This mistake, however, is not 

evidence of a discriminatory motive to not re-hire Clark based on his age. J.A. at 80. Further, the 

principal was also aware that the athletic director needed to get the coaching positions filled as 

part of his responsibilities and to make sure coaches for the 2015-2016 athletic seasons were on 

board for the 3 week period in the middle of June when coaches are allowed to work with their 

athletes to prepare for the next season. J.A. at 167. Accordingly, Bailey contacted his supervisor, 

Mark Milam, at the KCBOE to determine the best way to proceed. J.A., at 122,132-133. He was 

advised to put together a committee and interview all the candidates. J.A. at 164. This demonstrates 

the principal sought guidance on the process. His testimony completely contradicts any inference 

of a discriminatory motive. 

The athletic director put together a list of 10 questions for use in the interviews of the 

applicants. lA., at 87, 169. The questions were put together based upon a hypothetical candidate 

in order to evaluate the best candidate to fill the position. J.A. at 115, 170. Mr. Clay had no 

knowledge of who the applicants would be when the questions were written. J.A. at 177. The 

applicants were called in for interviews. lA., at 119-120. Each applicant was asked the same 10 

questions. lA. 154. No candidate was asked their age. J.A. at 154. The committee had no 

information to evaluate the candidates other than the information given in the interview. lA. 153

154. Clark did not give a good interview. l.A. at 116. Mathew Greene, on the other hand, came 

into the interview and impressed the committee with a written plan for the direction ofthe program. 

J.A. at 109-110. 

At the conclusion of the interviews, the committee discussed their options. l.A., at 120. 

The process was not rushed and they took their time. lA. at 119, 153. Mr. Bailey testified it was 

his goal to be objective, and follow the law and WVSSAC policy. W. Va. Code § 18A-3-2a( e )(3) 
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(Effective Until June 12,2015); see, generally, Hanlon v. Logan County Board ofEducation, 201 

W. Va. 305,496 S.E. 2d 447, at 455 (W.Va. 1997); 127 CSR 3-6.1 & 6.4.c.; see also WVSSAC 

Policy at lA., at 205,228; lA., at 228,64,89. It was determined the position must be offered to 

a "currently employed certified professional educator" that applied for the position first. W. Va. 

Code § 18A-3-2a(e)(3) (Effective Until June 12,2015); see, generally, Hanlon v. Logan County

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